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Prologue


WHEN QUEEN CATHERINE of Braganza entered London for the first time in May 1662, knots of people formed in the city’s twisting medieval streets, jostling to catch sight of their new queen. It was overwhelming and hot, and she stood stiffly, looking a little like a doll. She didn’t speak a word of English, but nobody minded that. An effusion of terrible but joyous poetry followed in her wake, celebrating her recent marriage to Charles II, himself newly restored as king after the tumult of the Civil War and then Oliver Cromwell’s Protectorate.


Catherine would be England’s Restoration queen. Although the Restoration is frequently ignored in favour of its more famous relative, the Tudors, the period is generally associated with hedonism, flirtation, silks, heavy drinking and finally the human embodiment of all these things: the Merry Monarch Charles II himself. It has given us the poetry of John Wilmot, Earl of Rochester, whose favourite rhyming couplet involved ‘arse’ and ‘tarse’ (penis). It was a time of great scientific discovery, of invention and the relatively early days of colonialism. Following the killjoy Parliamentarian era and the Protectorate, Charles’s reign has usually been associated with fun, at least onstage and screen. The return of the Royalists unleashed female actors onstage for the first time, wearing scandalously tight breeches or hiking their skirts up to reveal a shocking amount of leg. Dancing and Christmas were allowed again. Of course, history is always more complicated than that. Opera actually flourished in Cromwell’s reign. But we will leave the nuances of this debate for another book.


What concerns us is a shadowy figure at the edge of this hedonistic tale of the Restoration. She was present at a meeting with famous architect Christopher Wren after the Great Fire of London had destroyed the city. She was observing the sky just as Isaac Newton was trying to work out earth’s place in the solar system and how exactly meteors worked. In one way or another she was present for every great event of Charles’s reign. But in history she has remained a spectre in the background. Her story has effectively been lost.


For the last 350 years or so, the very few mentions of Catherine have placed her reputation at rock bottom. She has been characterised as an unintelligent, cheated-on wife who had very little impact on the world. As her entry in the Oxford Dictionary of National Biography casually states: ‘Catherine had not been unwilling to fulfil her role as the British queen consort but circumstances conspired to make her success unlikely. Her “ordinary mind” and lack of beauty and sophistication disappointed her court, and while she came to love her husband, who for his part welcomed her non-interference in politics and praised her goodness, his mistresses were the bane of her life, and her childlessness the cause of great misery.’1 Other accounts have gone further, branding her reign a failure thanks to her childlessness.


The definitive biography of her life, while much more sympathetic, has not helped matters. Written by Lillias Campbell Davidson and published in 1928, it has a distinctive early-twentieth-century feel in enumerating Catherine’s virtues: ‘Catherine lived in her husband’s court as Lot lived in Sodom. She did justly, and loved mercy, and walked humbly with her God in the midst of a seething corruption and iniquity only equalled, perhaps, in the history of Imperial Rome. She loved righteousness and her fellows, and, above all, the one man who won her heart on the day of her marriage, and kept it till the grave shut over her. She was one of the purest women who ever shared the throne of England.’2


How boring! A hundred years later, purity and humility are not very fashionable virtues for a woman, and this version of Catherine seems like a rather embarrassing chapter in our current telling of history, one that is being rewritten to include strong women who forged their own paths. Campbell Davidson’s description skates over Catherine’s love of parties, fun and gambling. She smiled far too much. She dressed all her ladies in matching costumes, played with cross-dressing and scandalised the prudish by displaying her slim ankles.


I first became interested in Catherine of Braganza as a historical woman when visiting the National Portrait Gallery, its rows of kings and queens predictably grave and unsmiling. That is, until I reached the portraits of Charles II and Catherine. Not only is Charles half smirking back at the viewer, he is surrounded by portraits of women – his mistresses – shining in satin and gazing seductively out from their frames. I knew enough of history to know that other kings had had mistresses who had been powerful and influential, so why were they not pictured? Why was Charles singled out and Catherine – by extension – obscured?


It is often forgotten that, while her husband had plenty of lovers, Catherine was still the queen. Throughout history, she has been compared unfavourably with her husband’s mistresses, the real women who ran the show. In the last century, there have been at least four books written about the mistresses, with two in the last decade.3 Catherine has also been blamed for Charles’s sexual licentiousness, as though a man having an affair is somehow his wife’s fault. Her Wikipedia entry tells us that ‘Catherine’s personal charms were not potent enough to wean Charles away from the society of his mistresses.’4 If only she had been more beautiful, more charming, more clever and more worldly, perhaps he would not have strayed.


Compared with any constitutional monarch in the UK today, Catherine had unfathomable levels of power. She had immense spending capacity, alongside influence as a diplomat and patron of the arts. She was a taste-maker, popularising tea, for example, which was to become a feature of life that is still closely associated with English national identity. She commissioned art and music, turning English tastes towards the baroque, then a highly avant-garde new style yet to be fully adopted in England. Many an eighteenth-century church would probably be missing its curlicues or golden cherubs without her. If we think of the fun and the hedonism of the Restoration, it is impossible to remove Catherine’s presence. The organiser of countless parties, theatricals and trips to one watering hole or another, she developed her own distinctive salon culture.


Catherine took her role as a diplomat very seriously, regularly corresponding with other heads of state, the King of France, Louis XIV, responding to her missives in a sprawling, extravagant hand that reflects the man himself. Indeed, throughout Europe at the time, the art of diplomacy was often seen as a queen’s primary function. Many of the diplomatic visits that took place during Charles’s reign were conducted in Catherine’s rooms, and it was a sign of favour if Charles asked a visitor to kiss the queen’s hands. She was an active participant in these important diplomatic exchanges. In fact, her very arrival in England was a diplomatic act, hurling England into war with Spain.


Throughout her childhood and the first eight years of her reign in Britain, Portugal was fighting a fierce war with Spain for independence. Rather than – as historians tell us – Catherine and Charles II’s marriage being immediately disliked by the English because of her Catholicism,5 her arrival in England was heralded as a union of two oppressed powers. In the vein of ‘the enemy of our enemy is our friend’, Catherine’s anti-Spanish associations vastly outweighed her Catholicism, one poet crying, ‘Let Bonfires blaze, and Bels out loud Ring’ at the coming of Queen Catherine.6


Furthermore, her dowry brought the first Indian possession into British hands, as well as the important port of Tangier. She is the woman after whom Queens in New York is named, and there remain several streets in London named after her. She found positions for her friends and supporters in both the English and Portuguese courts, and would later become regent of Portugal, ushering in a new era of Anglo-Lusitanian alliance that still exists today.


It is convenient – and suits our modern version of monogamy – to see the relationship between Catherine and her husband’s mistresses as one based on rivalry. But the reality is far more complicated. Charles’s mistresses were often friends of the queen, and they spent a great deal of time together. Barbara Palmer, Countess of Castlemaine, perhaps the most influential of the mistresses, copied Catherine in having her portrait painted as Catherine of Alexandria, the queen’s namesake. It has been assumed that this was a deliberate insult to Catherine, showing off Barbara’s superior charms in the same posture, but if we look more closely at the historical record, we see a whole spate of such pictures, mostly from Catherine’s supporters and as a compliment to her. Could their relationship in fact have been one of both collaboration and competition, containing a range of complex human emotions?


Rather than portraying her as either pitiable or pure, a new and more complex picture of the real woman emerges. Catherine was plagued by fits of depression throughout her life. As a dedicated hypochondriac, she loved to self-medicate, but she was also great fun, laughing and talking too much and too enthusiastically. Visitors to court were shocked by this informal woman who showed too many teeth. She was mostly uninterested in English politics, but cared passionately about Portugal, doing everything she could to preserve its independence. She was not a great social reformer, but she advocated for more liberties for women, and left money in her will to free slaves.


This biography attempts to show Catherine neither as a saint nor a sinner, but rather as a woman of her time, living in an era of immense scientific, global and social change, who had a profound impact on the world around her. All the reasons why she has so far been largely forgotten by history – her wonky teeth, her fits of depression and the odd bout of social awkwardness – in fact make her a hugely relatable figure to us today, when we accept the imperfect and the difficult life.
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Assassination, Education and an Accidental War


THE SIGNAL WAS a pistol shot. As the sound rang out, a group of conspirators stormed Lisbon’s Ribeira Palace, the seat of power and the home of the viceroy. It was an incredibly risky enterprise; the few conspirators were pitted against the might of the Hapsburgs, the most powerful dynasty Europe had ever seen. They demanded both an end to Spanish rule and a new king. The new king they called for was a shy man who had spent most of his life buried in the countryside and had no experience of politics. His name was João, Duke of Braganza.


João’s daughter Catherine was two years old when the revolution began. She was not born Infanta (Princess) of Portugal, but into the risky business of would-be royalty and imminent civil war. Her childhood was one of plots, assassins and the whispered legend of a hidden king who would come forth to solve the nation’s ills. While she may not have been born an infanta, however, she was a daughter of Portugal’s wealthiest and most powerful aristocratic house. The Braganzas were responsible for around 80,000 vassals and owned over a third of Portugal’s land.1 They were also royalty, with a significant claim to the throne.


To understand the Braganza claim, we need to travel a little in time and space. A visitor to northern Morocco in 1578 would have observed two armies camped on either side of the Loukkos River, at Alcácer Quibir: King Sebastian of Portugal with his ally the deposed Sultan Abu Abdallah Mohammed II on one side, facing the current Sultan of Morocco, Abd Al-Malik I, on the other. They were lining up to fight a battle that was only ever going to end one way. Sebastian had ignored warnings about taking an army to the heart of Morocco, and the Portuguese were doomed: his force of 24,000 troops faced Al-Malik’s army of 50,000.2 It was a slaughter. All three kings would die in the ensuing battle, known in memoriam as the Battle of the Three Kings.


Since no one had seen the young, impetuous King Sebastian die at Alcácer Quibir, and no clearly identifiable body was found, four fake Sebastians emerged in the years following the battle, all claiming to be the lost king and capitalising on the popular belief that he could not really be dead. In Portugal today, ‘Sebastianism’ still has mythological power: one of his titles is ‘Sebastian the Asleep’, and it is believed that, at a time of great national need, he will emerge from wherever he is sleeping to fight for his country once more.3 At birth, his astrologer had predicted that Sebastian would have dark hair and would enjoy the company of women, concluding that the presence of Venus in the Eleventh House signified multiple sons.4 The astrologer was wrong on all counts. Sebastian had light hair, no wife and no issue. After his death, only his cantankerous elderly uncle, the Cardinal Henrique, remained as the clear heir to the ruling Portuguese House of Aviz.


As a servant of the Church, Henrique could have no legitimate children, and the Pope refused to release him from his vows of celibacy. The cardinal’s death in 1580 inevitably led to a succession crisis for the Portuguese crown, for which Sebastian unfortunately stayed asleep. There were three contenders for the throne, all grandchildren of Manuel I, Sebastian’s great-grandfather: the illegitimate António, Prior of Crato; King Philip II of Spain; and finally Catarina, Duchess of Braganza. With the resources of the world’s greatest empire behind him, Philip II emerged the winner and Portugal became part of the Hapsburg Empire.


King Philip was descended from Manuel’s daughter, while the Duchess of Braganza was descended from his son, Duarte. As Portuguese succession prioritised the male line, it was technically Catarina who had the greater claim to the throne. She had an international reputation as ‘a Couragious and very Witty Princess, well skill’d in the Greek and Latin tongues, as also in the Mathematicks and other curious Sciences, which she carefully instructed her Children in’.5 They were an educated, cosmopolitan family, and as the wife of the wealthiest nobleman in Portugal, Catarina would have been able to afford the very best tutors for her children, including Catherine’s grandfather, Teodósio.


Teodósio was a page and favourite of the much-mythologised King Sebastian, who took the ten-year-old with him on campaign to Morocco. When the fighting at Alcácer Quibir began to get dangerous, he sent the boy behind the lines. This was not acceptable to Teodósio, who stole a horse and charged recklessly into the heart of the ill-fated battle. He was taken prisoner, but on hearing of his valour, the new Sultan of Morocco, Ahmad al-Mansur, released him without ransom, a high compliment for the boy’s incautious bravery.6 Luckily for Philip II, Teodósio was uninterested in the throne of Portugal, and faithfully served the new king as he had Sebastian. He was rewarded with even more lands to add to the vast Braganza patrimony.


It was on these huge estates that Catherine was born, between eight and nine in the evening on 25 November 1640, St Catherine’s Day. It was a fortuitous date in the Catholic calendar. St Catherine had been a princess and scholar, one of the three ‘holy maids’ who provided protection against sudden death, and whose voice was heard by Joan of Arc. Catherine would identify with her namesake throughout her life.


The third child of João and Luisa, she was baptised just over a fortnight after her birth in the opulent chapel of her family home, the Vila Viçosa. Its monolithic foundations had been laid by her ancestor Duke Jamie I, who wanted to live in something a little more modern than the draughty fourteenth-century castle that still stands today. Everything about the Vila Viçosa celebrated the wealth and power of the Braganza dynasty, from the huge square outside, designed to gather crowds and make the palace look even grander, to its tapestries, its lacquered cabinets imported from Asia, and its hundreds of intricately painted azulejos (tiles). For the first few years of her life, Catherine grew up in this vast structure, looking out over silver-green olive groves and the reddish bark of cork oak.


The family remained in countryside retirement rather than enjoying the bustle of Lisbon for two reasons. The first was that their claim to the throne of Portugal meant that they were a constant threat to Spanish rule merely by existing. The second was a character trait that helped João and his family survive many tumultuous years of politics and intrigue: the Duke of Braganza was a naturally cautious, retiring man. He was not particularly flamboyant and did not have a taste for power.7 His greatest pleasures were music, reading and the life of the mind.


Music was a family tradition that Catherine too would inherit, along with the Braganzas’ intense spiritual life. In his will, João’s father, Teodósio, had written, ‘I remind my son, the Duke, that the best thing I leave him in this house is my Chapel,’ and instructed him to maintain the chaplains and musicians within as one of the chief cares of his life.8 In a move relatable to teenagers and their frustrated parents everywhere, he forced João to continue with his music when as a boy he rebelled against lessons and wanted to give it up. Despite this flicker of early reluctance, music was to become one of the chief passions of João’s life.9 Some of his compositions are still played today; we may owe the tune of ‘O Come, All Ye Faithful’ to him. He was a virtuoso of polyphony, experimenting with six voices, and also wrote technically on the subject. Catherine’s childhood was filled with excellent and experimental music, something that continued to fascinate her later in life. Like her father, she was interested in anyone, regardless of rank, who could create beautiful sounds, and never tired of her musicians.


When the English poet and musician Richard Flecknoe visited Lisbon in 1648, João ‘no sooner understood of my arrival, but he sent for me to Court’. They had two or three hours ‘tryal of my skill’, and João apparently greatly exceeded Flecknoe, especially when it came to composing music. However, he was well pleased, and gave Flecknoe permission to see him as often as he liked. Returning the flattery, Flecknoe wrote some very bad poetry about Lisbon and its environs, stressing the marvellous surroundings and – to him – exotic fruits such as ‘Silk animating Mulberies’ and ‘Pomegranads’.10 The rhymes get considerably worse towards the end of the poem, finishing with the dubious combination ‘Hesperides ’ and ‘Alcinous’es ’. This inspired forcing of language led to considerable fame for Flecknoe, though not of the type he dreamed of, with the better-known and better-respected poet John Dryden calling him ‘Through all the realms of Non-sense, absolute’.11


Besides music, João’s other great love was hunting, and a French visitor attributed his unassailable good health to this form of physical exercise, riding out for long days on the trail of spotted fallow deer or long-toothed wild boar. João was of average height and slightly stocky, with brown hair neither light nor dark, and pale eyes.12 Perhaps his most distinguishing feature was his dramatically curling brown moustache. He liked to dress all in black with gold buttons and braid; in the seventeenth century, wearing black was a sign of wealth as well as sobriety, since the garments had to be dyed multiple times for the colour to look anything other than a nondescript grey, and washing quickly faded the garment.13


Catherine’s mother, Luisa de Guzmán, was artistic like her husband, but enjoyed painting over music, using a trowel to apply thick oil paints to canvas.14 She was a gifted linguist, picking up languages easily, including Portuguese (she was Spanish), and her education was humanist, although highly focused on religion.15 Her youthful 1632 portrait (when she was 20) shows an oval face with rosy cheeks, dramatic black eyebrows and an intense gaze. Like João, she seems to have favoured expensive and fashionable black, enlivened with delicate white lace and deep pink ribbons. Together they were a power couple. It had made sense for one of the richest families of Spain to marry the richest of Portugal. And the Guzmán fortunes were vast: when Luisa’s grandfather inherited his lands, over 400 folio pages (the biggest size of paper then available) were needed to record all his properties.16


However, their marriage was by no means a foregone conclusion. João’s father, Teodósio, was looking further afield for a bride, and had fixed on Maria Catarina Farnese, the daughter of the Duke of Parma.17 Ambitious for his son and his dynasty, Teodósio required a lady with both dowry and international connections. He may also have been seeking to bolster the Braganza claim to the throne, since Maria Catarina was a cousin of sorts, descended from João’s grandmother’s elder sister. However, João was rejected by Maria Catarina and her family, and when his father died in 1630, he was still unmarried. He was now the grand old age of twenty-six, and the question of an heir to carry on the dynasty was becoming urgent.18 Unsure of where to look, and aware of the importance of marriage, he wrote to close family friend Francisco de Melo, then resident at the Spanish court, asking him for advice.*


De Melo was loyal to his Spanish master, the Count-Duke Olivares. Effectively the prime minister for the entire Hapsburg Empire, Olivares was almost as large in stature as he was in personality. Ruthless, dynamic and willing to work himself to exhaustion, he was unafraid of unpleasant tasks. And he needed to be – the empire spanned continents, from New Spain in the Americas to the Philippines in Asia, and much of Europe. All papers requiring King Philip IV’s signature went through Olivares first.19 Spain’s policy in Portugal was geared towards greater Iberian union, attempting to neutralise any threat of Portuguese independence. And thanks to his claim to the throne, João was one of the greatest symbols of that independence. His marriage was a delicate matter for Olivares. How could he turn this problem into an advantage for Spain? To promote unity, Olivares had long been trying to arrange Spanish–Portuguese matches. What better than for João to be similarly tied to Spain? He instructed de Melo to recommend one of Spain’s wealthiest and best-connected maidens as a bride, Olivares’ own relative Luisa de Guzmán, of the House of Medina Sidonia.


De Melo duly wrote to João that ‘The Count-Duke informed me he would be pleased if Your Excellency would make this marriage to reunite the two largest houses in Spain’ (referring to Portugal and Spain as one, and to a past match between the houses of Medina Sidonia and Braganza). United, de Melo argued, they could carry out the ‘service and maintenance of Spain’.20 Ironically for the future leader of an independence movement, these arguments found favour with João, and he agreed to the match. Luisa, it was assumed, would do what was good for Spain, and for the Guzmáns as a family. She would act as a diplomat and mediator, as countless other barely remembered women in history had done. Little did anyone know that she had been brought up to think of ambition as the greatest aristocratic virtue. She would prove to be the dynamic force behind her husband’s political career, propelling the Braganza dynasty from dukes to kings.


For now, João had ticked off that most important of tasks for a feudal lord: securing the future of the dynasty. To celebrate his betrothal, he ordered two hundred torches to be lit, an extraordinary extravagance of fuel, while the whole village of Vila Viçosa was filled with shouts of approval and festivities.21


In the cool of the autumn of 1633, when Luisa had just turned twenty and João was twenty-nine, the couple were married by proxy on the Spanish side of the border, in the ancient city of Badajoz, its encircling walls and labyrinthine fortress seeming to rise from the rock. Luisa travelled to Portugal as a married woman, despite not yet having met her husband. It must have been an anxious time for her, but she was made of stern stuff. Apparently her ambitious father’s parting words were: ‘Go, daughter, very happy, for you are not going to be a duchess, but a queen.’22 There were many such legends surrounding her. Another was that on the day of her baptism, a Moorish guest announced that the little girl would live one day to be a queen.23 Although both prophecies are almost certainly later imaginings, they speak to the legend that Luisa was to become for Portugal. It was a symbolic moment for the whole Iberian peninsula as the dark-eyed young woman crossed the waters of the Río Caya into her new home and her new country.


João and Luisa finally met at a second marriage ceremony on 13 January 1632, at the fortress-like Our Lady of the Assumption Cathedral in the town of Elvas – this time on the Portuguese side of the border. Dusk was just beginning to fall, tinting the butter-yellow stones of the cathedral a deeper orange. Both bride and groom were determined to make a good first impression. João was dressed in an almond-coloured velvet overdress ornamented with gold braid, a gold choker, and a hat glittering with diamonds. Not to be outdone, Luisa wore an enormous diamond necklace and a green dress showcasing her family’s wealth, partly through the great quantity of unnecessary material employed in the dress’s sleeves; there were four of them, cut open to reveal a taffeta lining, embroidered with flowers of silver thread and decorated with yet more diamonds.24


The marriage seems to have been a happy one. Luisa adapted to her new life as though she had been born in Lisbon, and quickly learned Portuguese, as well as the customs of the country.25 She had a persuasive tongue and ‘an insinuating way’ that ‘drew all mens hearts . . . and had by her extraordinary Application and Carriage gained an absolute Ascendant over her Husband, who never undertook anything of moment without her Advice’.26 Their peace was only disturbed when João’s brother Duarte had an affair with one of Luisa’s ladies-of-honour, shocking the religious and deeply conservative duchess. The irresponsible Duarte was sent away from the palace, only for João himself to embark on an affair with a travelling actress.27 However, this was short-lived and more socially acceptable by the standards of the time, since it did not involve any of Luisa’s ladies. Women were expected to accept their husband’s dalliances, as long as it did not interfere in their domestic sphere. Essentially, it was more acceptable for an aristocratic man to have a discreet affair with a lower-status woman.


While overseeing the vast ducal interests and pursuing their artistic pleasures in the countryside – João at his music and Luisa at her easel – the young couple were firmly on track to secure the dynasty. This was not without its heartbreak, however. Like her mother before her, Luisa was plagued by miscarriages. But in 1634, she carried a baby to term. They called him Teodósio, after his grandfather, and in the spirit of goodwill invited the wayward Duarte back to the fold, making him Teodósio’s godfather.28 A girl they named Joana came close on her brother’s heels in 1635, followed by Catherine in 1638. Two further children, Manuel and Ana, tragically died when they were hours old.


The main differences between João and Luisa seem to have been in ambition and decision-making. While Luisa knew what she wanted and was quick to side with one cause or another, João was more careful. This often served him well, as many problems find their own inevitable solution if left to time. Luisa was intelligent and decisive, well aware of the risks of the political game that the family would soon be playing, and the undercurrents of dissent circulating through Portugal. As Duchess of Braganza and claimant to the throne of Portugal, she famously announced, ‘Better queen for one day, than duchess all my life.’29





__________________


*   De Melo was a trustworthy pair of hands. The whole family would prove invaluable to the Braganza dynasty, and Francisco, Catherine’s godfather, would be particularly important in her life and reign.
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A Play for the Throne


POPULAR DISSENT IN Portugal had been brewing against Spain for longer than João had been alive. Besides questions of national identity, much of the dispute revolved around money. During the early honeymoon days of Iberian union, a new river route to Spain had been proposed. Greater wealth and trade opportunities seemed to be on their way. The Portuguese also gained access to New Spain, a vast territory spanning from California and Florida to southern Mexico and the Philippines, and to the Spanish silver there, mostly mined in terrible conditions using coerced labour. However, as the Spanish economy stuttered, so too did Portugal’s. The Hapsburgs were constantly fighting wars of one kind or another on multiple fronts. As fast as the silver was mined, it was spent again – on luxuries, foreign mercenaries and arms. No industry was fostered within Spain or Portugal. A vast influx of Central American silver led to an inflation crisis across Europe, since more money was being put into circulation without more goods being produced, leading to a price spiral.


The latest conflict was the bitterly destructive Thirty Years War, which raged through Europe from 1618 to 1648, decimating its population and resources. Spain was seriously in need of money, and Olivares looked to Portugal to raise it.


Used to relatively light taxation, the Portuguese protested at tax rises, coming as they did on top of a run of bad harvests. Farmers resented the Spanish for taking food from their mouths, and the provincial gentry resented them for taking their power. Traders were dissatisfied too: thanks to Spain’s long-running conflict with the Netherlands, they could not bargain freely with the Dutch, a huge, very wealthy market and one of their most important trading partners. Portugal’s position as an effectively Spanish nation made them fair game for Dutch and British incursions into their ships and territories in Brazil and Asia.1 The country simmered with resentment.


In 1637, large-scale disturbances broke out in Évora, southern Portugal, and like a spark to tinder, riots ignited throughout the south. Increasingly, the protests were not just about money, but about the very idea of being ruled from Spain. Popular dissent swirled, with a sepia-tinted version of Portugal’s glorious past revivified. People fantasised about how much better, how much richer Portugal would be if only they weren’t under the Spanish yoke.2 Influential was a semi-messianic text written by a lowly cobbler from Beira Alta, in the south. His mystical writings foresaw a new age for Portugal, after an encoberto, or hidden king, came forth to liberate his people. It was stirring stuff, imagining through metaphors like the pruning of vines how the country would be cleansed and remade. Other prophecies circulated seductively, telling of old hermits seeing a line of kings, or threescore years of chastisement for the Portuguese, followed by God’s mercy. Spain had been ruling them for close to sixty years.3


And who was the encoberto likely to be? There were few claimants to the throne, other than our very own João. However, at this point, he was not very interested in claiming it. He was offered the crown by the rebels but turned it down. Did he not want it, or did he feel that it wasn’t the right time?4 French power-broker Cardinal Richelieu, forever wishing to get one over on Spain, even contemplated supporting illegitimate heirs to the throne, since João seemed so uninterested. Inside Portugal, other noblemen or even a republic were discussed.5 But it was difficult to ignore João – the Braganzas were the biggest landowning family in the country, and roughly a third of the vassals, or peasantry, owed allegiance to him as their feudal lord. He was needed if any rebellion was to be successful.6


Although the riots were eventually suppressed by Castilian troops, they were an important turning point, proving to any would-be revolutionary that Portuguese independence had almost universal popular support.


In an attempt to secure João’s loyalty to Spain and prevent any attempt at independence, Olivares made him commander of Portugal’s royal forces. João accepted in 1638, albeit with every appearance of reluctance, and began touring the country, looking suitably kingly and doing exactly the opposite of what Olivares intended. He was finally out of his countryside obscurity, wielding power and beginning to look like a viable king. The Portuguese leapt on the idea, believing that this man might be ‘the incarnation of Hope’.7 Rumours began to circulate that João was indeed the encoberto, as had been foretold.8 It seems rather a stretch, since he was always quite plainly in sight as the likeliest heir to the throne, but it made an excellent piece of propaganda, and of such tales kings are made. A contemporary account records that he had become such a threat that Olivares attempted to kidnap him and smuggle him safely to Spain, first on a ship that was to pretend to need succour from a storm, and then by Spaniards stationed at various coastal forts. However, luck and João’s large entourage foiled every attempt. The duke continued to gain in popularity as he made his tour of Portugal’s defences.9


As tensions simmered in Portugal, long-held dissent in Catalonia finally boiled over. In the first week of May 1640, the ringing of church bells summoned armed, well-organised revolt against Castilian overlordship. The French, sensing blood in a financially weakened Spain, supported Catalonia. When the call went out for the Portuguese to join the Spanish army being gathered to put down the revolt, and also support beleaguered Spanish forces in Italy, word spread that this was a clever trap to crush Catalonian and Portuguese dissent simultaneously. It was feared that, while the Portuguese nobility were out of the country fighting, Spain would enact its ‘cruel design’, crushing Portugal without the organised resistance the nobles might have offered.10 Something must be done to counteract any such dastardly scheme. But what?


Again the answer was independence, and again came the question: who would be the next ruler of Portugal? Still the obvious answer was João, but, despite his newly regal status, in June 1640 he again refused to accept the crown from a small group of conspirators.11 He knew that he only had one chance: if he allowed himself to be crowned king of Portugal, or even publicly supported rebellion of any kind, it could mean death for himself, his family and the whole Braganza line. The Spanish could not allow them to live if they showed any sign of mutiny.


When asked by conspirators whether, if push came to shove and they founded a republic, he would support the republic or Spain, João replied that he had ‘decided to never go against the common sentiment of the kingdom’.12 This was promising.


The story goes that Luisa provided the final impetus. She told her prevaricating husband, ‘if thou goest to Madrid thou runnest the hazard of losing thy head. If thou acceptest the throne thou runnest the same hazard. If thou must perish, better die nobly at home than basely abroad.’13 However, even this was not enough to convince him. So she brought the family into it, saying to him on Catherine’s second birthday, ‘This day our friends are assembled to celebrate the anniversary of the birth of our little Catherine, and who knows but this new guest may have been sent to certify you that it is the will of Heaven to invest you with that crown of which you have long been unjustly deprived by Spain. For my part, I regard it as a happy presage that he comes on such a day.’14


As the final nail in the coffin of persuasion, she brought in their daughter for some emotional blackmail. Getting Catherine to kiss her father, she asked, ‘How can you find it in your heart to refuse to confer on this child the rank of a king’s daughter?’15


In October 1640, João told the rebel faction that he would accept the kingdom of Portugal. It might have been Luisa’s reasoning that persuaded him: Portugal was boiling over, and, as the best candidate to be king, he must either go with the times or be executed by one great power or another.


The conspirators acted, converging on the Ribeira Palace separately, some by horse and some concealing their arms in litters normally used to carry nobles between merriments.16 There was remarkably little bloodshed, the Castilian troops stationed in the capital surrendering when they saw the way the wind was blowing. The viceroy, Philip IV’s cousin Margaret of Savoy, was left unharmed, fleeing to a convent, although her deeply unpopular secretary, Miguel de Vasconcelos, was hunted down.


Described as ‘a man Composed of Pride, Cruelty and Covetousness, knowing no moderation but in excess’, who ‘gave birth to hatreds & enmities among the Great ones of the Realm’, Vasconcelos had unfortunately become a scapegoat for all of Spain’s crimes.17 There are different versions of his death, but the most popular tells how the rebels found him cowering in a cupboard, trying to cover himself with a stack of papers.18 His bloodied body was defenestrated, thrown to the crowd below, a visible sign that the regime had changed.19 The mob ‘ran like Madmen to express Living Sentiments of Revenge upon his dead and senseless Corps, vaunting who could invent the newest wayes of disgrace and scorn, till at length almost wearied with their inhumane sport, they left it in the Street so mangled, that it did not seem to have the least resemblance of a Man’.20


Bonfires were lit throughout Lisbon, the citizens cheering their new monarch and crying for joy as horsemen rode around the city calling out proclamations in the name of King John IV. As one disconsolate Spaniard put it, ‘John IV was very happy, since his kingdom cost him no more than a bonfire, and Philip IV much otherwise, who had been stripped of so sure a crown only by acclamations and illuminations.’21 It was seen as quite remarkable how fast, how comprehensive and how bloodless the revolution had been. But would it hold?


Spain categorically did not accept this handover of power. The two nations were now at war. Should the full weight of the Spanish juggernaut turn on Portugal, they were likely to be crushed. Luckily for them, Spain was tied up with rebellion in Catalonia, war with France and the Thirty Years War, which would rage across the continent for another eight years.


João was now King of Portugal. Luisa had reached the height of her ambition: she was finally queen. And Catherine had the new title – and the new status – of infanta.


The Braganza family quickly decamped to Lisbon, two-year-old Catherine in tow, alongside her elder siblings Teodósio, five, and Joana, six. She would have been too young to remember the move, although her brother and sister may have recounted it to her. Couriers were dispatched by sea to the far corners of the Portuguese Empire, from Brazil to Tangier to China, with news of the coup. It was widely accepted and even acclaimed throughout the territories, except where Hapsburg control and military might were at their strongest. Accordingly, Ceuta remained with Spain, but Tangier and all the other territories went with Portugal.


The Portuguese parliament, the Cortes, had the power to decide on the succession, and were called in 1641 to approve the choice of João as ruler. They did so with gusto.


His rule was helped hugely by the popular backing for the Braganza coup. State bureaucracy, magistrates and minor clergy were all strongly in favour, and during the long war for Portuguese independence, the povo, or people, continued to support João, whose piety appealed to their traditional attitudes. Without the povo, independence would most likely have failed, since they provided the foot soldiers, the food and the taxes with which war was waged. They also suffered as their fields and houses were burned, their cattle stolen and many of their number killed.22


The monarchs of Portugal had no crowning ceremony. Instead, they held a stately exchange of promises: the monarch swore to serve God and Portugal, while the people, through their representatives, swore loyalty to the monarch. Six years into his reign, in 1646, João introduced his own twist on the classic ceremony of acclamation, dedicating his kingdom to Mary, Our Lady of the Conception, and having her crowned as queen. This pious and humble relationship became an important feature of the Braganza monarchy: no monarch again wore a crown, and in images the crown sat on a nearby table.23


Luisa acted as the power behind the throne, having ‘a goodly presence’ and ‘more of the Majestick in her’ than her husband.24 However, João did enjoy sitting in Portugal’s high court, and gained a reputation as a just king. His title – handed down to history – is ‘the Restorer’, for his role in Portuguese independence.


Now that Catherine was an infanta, her life inevitably changed. Court life in Lisbon was old-fashioned and rather stuffy by contemporary European standards. In a portrait painted when she was around five years old, she stands stiffly, fan in one hand, grasping the back of a chair with the other. Dark-eyed, with delicately arched brows, she looks directly at the viewer, her stance that of a little adult. Her body is swathed in black velvet, sleeves cut open to show the fine linen beneath, and her shoulders are covered in a lace wrap. Her chubby cheeks are the only feature that mark her as a young child rather than a court lady. Portraits of her elder siblings are equally stiff, projecting an iconographic quality that emphasises their status rather than their distinct personalities.25


It was lucky the family was so rich, since the Braganzas had to bring their own furniture to Lisbon, as well as subsidise the war effort. The Ribeira Palace, on the shores of the sprawling Tagus – the river that was the source of Lisbon’s wealth – was a vast edifice, added to under Philip’s rule. Other than the lack of marble, it was very similar to the Vila Viçosa: a huge, symmetrical building, its many windows reflecting the sky and the river, fronted by an enormous square where festivities and ceremonies took place.


Though the palace itself was architecturally unexciting, the interiors of Lisbon drew the eye. As the Venetian ambassadors recorded: ‘Lisbon doesn’t possess any nobleman’s or bourgeois palace that deserves attention; the buildings are merely very big without any worthy particularity, except for the way in which the Portuguese decorate them, so that they become truly magnificent, with the chambers lined in winter with satins, damasks, and with the finest tapestries.’26


Visitors also noted the city’s cosmopolitan nature, with different cultures doing strange things like eating bananas. There were many slaves, alongside also free Moorish traders, Ethiopian Christians (Ethiopia and Portugal had a special relationship, the kings of Portugal petitioning for Ethiopian Christianity to be recognised by the Pope), and blonde English and Dutch traders, all mingling with native Portuguese and Moors still present after the Reconquista of the peninsula.27


Catherine lived a very sheltered life. It is perhaps a slight exaggeration, but when she arrived in England, one eyewitness claimed that ‘she hath hardly been ten times out of the palace in her life’, being ‘bred hugely retired’.28 We know little about her childhood, beyond the fact that her mother watched over her education carefully. It was a style of education that was, by Luisa’s own admission, ‘more useful than pleasant’, with little time for frivolity and much time devoted to religion.29 Catherine at least turned out more literate than her younger brothers, Afonso and Pedro, neither of whom had much time for writing – it’s possible they could barely sign their names. This is an indictment rather than a triumph of Luisa’s parenting style. In not allowing tutors and insisting on educating the children herself, she was taking helicopter parenting to a new level. It led the boys to rebel whenever they could, while Catherine coped by just going along with whatever was asked of her.


Since Castilian influence was still very strong in Portugal, and Luisa was Spanish, many of the texts Catherine studied and the ‘high’ culture she consumed would have been Castilian. However, the reading deemed appropriate for young women was mainly religious; satire and comedy might have bred loose morals.30 Partly thanks to Luisa, Catherine spoke Spanish fluently. In her letters, she also displays at least a smattering of French and Italian, and she picked up English after a few years in the country, though she didn’t learn any Germanic language until she was in her twenties. She and her mother had a very close relationship, Luisa keeping careful watch over all aspects of her upbringing.


In a letter written to Catherine soon after she left Lisbon in 1662, Luisa signed herself ‘your mother who only idolises you’. Her expressions of love are constant, addressing her daughter as ‘My Catalina’, or ‘My daughter and all my love’, and declaring herself ‘your mother who adores you’.31 We do not have the letters from Catherine to her mother, most likely because of the earthquake-fire-tsunami combination that shattered Lisbon in 1755, but we do know that she loved her mother deeply. Of her younger brothers, Pedro, born in 1648, seems to have been her favourite, much preferred to the awkward Afonso, who had been born in 1643.


The great ceremonials that marked Catherine’s childhood were saints’ days and religious holidays like Corpus Christi, a spring festival celebrating the transubstantiation of Christ’s body into bread and his blood into wine during the Mass. A wafer would be carried through the streets, showcasing Christ’s sacrifice of his body for the world, and in Portugal this grew into one of the biggest processions in Europe, Lisbon’s guilds competing with one another for the grandest procession and the most impressive figures of giants or dragons. Buildings and hastily erected platforms were garlanded with flowers and tapestries, while the smoke from fireworks filled the air.32


Another occasion for celebration and pageantry was the king’s birthday, when his courtiers lined up to kiss his hands in a ceremony called the beija-mão. It was a formal statement of the relationship between king and courtier, confirming João as the source of power and patronage. The same ritual happened every year without fail, performed with punctuality and gusto. For an infanta of Portugal, the court was a predictable space, with nothing to shock or challenge her beyond the normal trials of growing up. Her father’s affairs were discreet, with no mistresses flaunting their power at court. He only had one illegitimate child that we know of, and she was educated far from her half-siblings; they might not even have known about her. Their mother certainly did not believe in noticing such things.


However, even sheltered in the luxurious Ribeira Palace, the life of any member of the ruling family always held the potential for danger, and the future of the Braganza dynasty was far from assured. There was a reason João had wanted to remain in countryside retirement making music.


In August 1641, the first threat to the new regime was discovered. Rather awkwardly for the Braganzas’ reputation for piety, the central conspirator was the pro-Castilian Archbishop of Braga, who had plotted to assassinate João, set fire to the Portuguese fleet and then storm Luisa’s apartments, returning the country to Spanish rule. There are competing tales as to how the plot came to João’s attention, the wildest being that the conspirators employed a Bohemian messenger to carry letters about the rebels’ plans to Spain. One of João’s spies met the Bohemian on the road and, immediately suspecting the poor man, got him drunk, stabbed him and stole the letters. It would have been an incredibly cold-blooded act, and the Bohemian must have been acting in a remarkably suspicious manner. More likely one of the plotters betrayed the affair.


Either way, such an escape, hot on the heels of his miraculously bloodless coup, could only boost João’s reputation for being specially protected by God. A contemporary marvelled, ‘if Heaven had not protected him, there had been but a short space betwixt the Birth and the Grave of his Sovereignty’.33 When the plot was discovered, the noble conspirators were hanged. Dealing with ecclesiastical dissent was considerably more awkward; the clergy, being Catholic, were not directly answerable to João, but to the Pope in Rome, who was controlled by Europe’s greatest political power, Spain. This was a tricky state of affairs for the Braganzas: they were not only deeply personally religious but ruling an intensely religious country. The difficult situation would be at the forefront of Catherine’s mind for many years and – as pious as any good Braganza – she would try to solve it later in life.


However, as a child there was little she could do, and since Rome did not acknowledge Portugal as an independent country, no new bishops could be installed, causing its religious framework to totter on unsteady legs for many years as bishops died and could not be replaced.34 Portugal was potentially the most religious country in Europe in the seventeenth century – or at least it had a strong claim to that title – with a contemporary merchant estimating that a third of the population was in some way employed by the Church.35


It is important, when thinking about her actions later on, to remember that Catherine grew up in a world in which it was entirely normal to have priests working in all areas of life, and where the Church was the dominant institution in the land. Carried in a litter around the crowded streets of Lisbon, she would inevitably have passed begging friars (there were around 5,000 of these) who asked for alms in a sing-song tone and would not accept leftover scraps of food. Little girls were often dressed as nuns, while young men took vows for holy orders, ready to become monks as soon as their elder brothers had married and fathered children. Even for those not inside a church, every evening was punctuated by moments of prayer. Whenever the church bells rang during the day at Mass times, everyone stopped what they were doing – even carriages, and plays halfway through their performance – and said an Ave Maria. At 9 p.m., the bells rang again and prayers were said for souls suffering the torments of purgatory.36


One assassination plot had been foiled, but as the bishops died off, the fabric of Portuguese religious life was called into question, impacting on the rule of João and Luisa. The next twenty-seven years – all of Catherine’s childhood and well into adulthood – would remain precarious for the Braganzas. Spain may have been exhausted by constant war and split by internal and external dissent, but it remained Europe’s greatest power, able to borrow huge sums from Italian and other European banks, and to levy vast armies of both Castilian soldiers and mercenaries. Portugal, in contrast, had not been in charge of its own finances or armies for the last sixty years. Many soldiers were abroad in Catalonia or the Netherlands, fighting Spain’s wars, and border fortresses had long been neglected, since there had been no need to repair them. It was a conflict that was stacked heavily against Portugal. Gradually, they managed to put money into their border defences, but they could ill-afford offensives. Spanish incursions and raids targeted crops and cattle, weakening the economy and Portugal’s ability to survive the war.


João set about trying to cultivate alliances. But what was he able to offer in return? Since their arrival in South America and India, the Portuguese had resented other Europeans attempting to trade and set up their own colonies, particularly if those Europeans were Protestants spreading blasphemous ideas. Trade with Portugal, and with the territories Portugal controlled, was a rich prize. On 8 February 1641, three ships provisioned for long journeys sailed from Lisbon. They presented favourable terms to France, England and the United Provinces, including access to Portugal’s lucrative spice trade. Later in the year, two more ships set off for Denmark and Rome.


Treaties gave João arms, munitions, cavalry and trading partners with an interest in one another’s affairs. But what he really needed was allies strong enough to support him in war. And this was where having children was useful.


England and Portugal had negotiated a treaty of trade and friendship in 1642.37 Encouraged by this, João approached England two years later with terms for a more significant alliance, proposing to seal the deal with the marriage of his serious five-year-old daughter Catherine to the dashing fourteen-year-old Prince of Wales, Charles. However, all discussions soon ceased. Civil war had broken out in England in 1642. At first it was thought the war would be over quickly and the king would keep his throne, but that belief was shattered by Parliamentarian victories, particularly the Battle of Marston Moor in 1644. The Portuguese embassy was stuck in London, having to apply for permission to leave. The embassy’s secretary, António de Sousa de Macedo, decided to stay on, and allowed Royalists to hide their mail among the Portuguese diplomatic post, including correspondence between Charles I and his wife, Henrietta Maria. When the Parliamentarians inevitably found out about this partisanship, they viewed Portugal as a potentially hostile country, not helping João’s fragile position on the international stage.38


Since Spain and France were at war, France seemed to be a natural ally for the new Braganza dynasty, and João proposed an incredible alliance with the French, suggesting that his eldest son, Teodósio, marry a niece of Louis XIV, while his elder daughter, Joana, would marry Charles Manuel of Savoy, Louis’ cousin. João would then abdicate the throne of Portugal in favour of Teodósio and his new wife, and take as his own territory part of northern Brazil. This remarkable suggestion shows the importance of international alliance in bolstering Portugal’s new regime. The negotiations continued for a tense four years, from 1643 to 1647, but no agreement was struck.
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Only one thing about the balance of power in early-modern Europe could ever be relied upon: it was always changing. In November 1648, Catherine celebrated her tenth birthday. A month later, the Dutch gained independence from Hapsburg rule. Four years later, the Catalan revolt ended (at least militarily; it’s still going in the hearts of the Catalan people). Spain’s forces, instead of being split between four fronts, were now fighting on only two: Portugal and France. The possibility of a French marriage was still open, but eventually it became clear that France had been prevaricating. There was not going to be a double marriage, or a safe retirement for João in Brazil. The question of Portuguese independence had been a bargaining chip to be used in negotiations with Spain.


In 1648, Portugal was excluded from the discussions that saw France and her allies end many of the conflicts of the Thirty Years War, signing the Peace of Westphalia.39 Aside from some smaller sorties, the Spanish colossus was now engaged on only one front: Portugal. The war for independence had begun in desperate earnest.


As if he didn’t have enough problems, João was about to be swept into another set of difficulties. Or one difficulty in particular. His name was Prince Rupert, and he was bearing down on the coast of Portugal with a fleet of ships of questionable provenance. Dashing, brave and favouring the flowing locks of the Cavalier, Rupert was the thirty-year-old son of Charles I’s sister, Elizabeth of Bohemia, who was known romantically – or mockingly, depending on the speaker – as the Winter Queen, since she ruled for only one winter.40


As one of the few living royals with actual experience of war, Rupert had gained a quasi-mythical reputation as a leader in the English Civil War, quickly becoming commander-in-chief of the Royalist forces. After Royalist defeat, exile and the declaration of a Commonwealth in England, he decided to turn to the high seas, following the grand tradition of English privateers (no matter that he was half German, and frequently referred to as Rupert of the Rhine). Fleeing Ireland hotly pursued by the Commonwealth fleet, he and his forces were, as one member of his crew put it, like Noah and his ark, ‘driven to begin the world anew, with seven sail’.41


Rupert had already sent word to João asking for access to his ports and rivers for refuelling and repairing his small fleet, alongside permission to sell his captured prize booty on the Portuguese market. This put the cautious João in a difficult position. Being a king himself, and a traditionalist in a traditionally minded country, he supported the cause of royalty against that of self-appointed governments like the new Commonwealth. And there was always a possibility that Charles I would return to power. A grateful King of England, Scotland, Wales and Ireland might be a useful tool in the future. However, he had no desire to upset the newly established Commonwealth, since England was Portugal’s biggest trading partner. To make matters worse, Rupert was brave and dashing, but entirely lacking in tact. His hot-headed impetuosity had left many a plan in disarray in the past, even if it occasionally won the day. His tendency to make things happen, whether for good or ill, had led his brothers and sisters to call him Rupert the Devil growing up.42 Personality-wise, he was João’s polar opposite.


João’s councillors disagreed on the best course of action – whether to side with Rupert or the Commonwealth – but they all agreed that they did not want to be dragged into a foreign war. The only dissident voice was Teodósio, now fourteen and stirred by the worthy cause of hereditary right. He was also just the right age and temperament to espouse any military cause that promised some glamour, revelling in the romanticism of royalty in exile now pursuing a life on the open sea.43 Teodósio was the people’s favourite, and Catherine’s too, a serious young man of tall, slim build, with a round face, a rosebud mouth and a close crop of dark curling hair.44 The siblings shared a love of learning and a facility with languages, alongside an intense piety. Teodósio was said to begin his day with holy exercises, and spent many hours contemplating the divine, just as Catherine did in both youth and later life.45


He loved astrology, could read Greek, Latin, French and Italian, and spoke Spanish with notable energy. All the siblings spoke Spanish, since it was their mother’s native tongue, and their ease with language was also perhaps inherited from Luisa. Teodósio’s other interests included the latest advances in science, maths, theology and philosophy. He was respected by Portugal’s intellectual elite for his learning, and by the general population for his piety and valour.46 He was so desperate to be at war that he actually fled the comfort of the Ribeira Palace to join the front lines of battle at Alentejo, fighting for independence against Spain.


However, his hot-headed support for Rupert was overruled. Instead, João equivocated: he promised the Royalists safe harbour in Portugal without actually taking their side.


The English party anchored in the clear waters of Cascais Bay (famous in later history as the setting for Casino Royale ), and went onshore, where they were feasted and entertained. João welcomed them at the Ribeira Palace with great generosity and all due ceremony (Rupert’s younger brother Prince Maurice was also of the party).47 Although there is no evidence that ten-year-old Catherine met the dashing German princes – she might have been in a convent at the time – she would certainly have been aware of their glamorous presence. She was close to her elder brother, and may even have taken his side – we know that she believed strongly in the divine right of kings, and would likely have been horrified by the state of affairs in the kingless Commonwealth England. Perhaps some of the ideas she was to advocate later in life were discussed first with her elder brother on the advent of Prince Rupert and his extensive, expensive entourage.


Rupert and Maurice quickly made themselves popular in Lisbon, dispensing largesse to the people. They were glamorous figures, with great masses of black hair, long aristocratic noses, and free manners that appealed to the povo as well as the clergy – the English aristocracy were much less formal than the Portuguese at the time. João could not leave the palace without hearing exclamations of support for Rupert from the citizens of Lisbon, while even the councillors who were against the princes’ continued stay in their city did not outwardly criticise him for fear of getting on the povo’s bad side.48 Their popularity was naturally helped by Rupert’s request that the leading Parliamentarian merchants in Portugal be imprisoned, which João agreed to do. Dissent safely removed, all seemed set for a profitable career in piracy, with profits funnelled into the Royalist cause.


Both Rupert and João enjoyed the company of practical people who knew what they were talking about, and respected one another’s ability to ride hard and track game. Rupert far preferred physical activity to sitting about diplomatically. As a young man, he had once been so focused on the hunt that when his dog went down a hole after a fox, the prince followed him and got stuck himself. His manservant managed to pull him out by the legs, to find Rupert holding onto the dog, which in turn was gripping the fox with its teeth.49 João, Rupert and Maurice hunted daily, whiling away their days in the slaughter of deer and tawny mouflon (wild sheep). In their defence, they and their sailors and courtiers did eat what they had killed.


There were a few harmonious months, but a pirate–king alliance was always a naive idea. By supporting Rupert, João had somewhat accidentally been drawn into taking sides. Early in 1650, the Parliamentarian general at sea Robert Blake set off from England in pursuit of what the Commonwealth called, ‘treacherous fugitives, renegados and sea robbers’.50 Blake’s fleet was sighted at the mouth of the Tagus in March, and he demanded that João release Rupert to them. It was an uncomfortable situation. The Commonwealth fleet had anchored only two miles away from Rupert’s fleet, the sound of the crews easily carrying across the open water. They came into even more contact in the port, with multiple brawls breaking out between the sailors on either side.


João’s hands were somewhat tied: his Secretary of State, Count de Miro, had long been urging a neutral policy, suggesting that ‘His Majesty should rather equally entertain and receive all of the English nation, since with them he had renewed the contracts of peace and friendship that have always been between the two nations’. He reminded João of ‘the king’s custom-house’, which would suffer a huge loss in revenue if English trade continued to be disrupted.51 They certainly could not afford war with the new Commonwealth. But João had also agreed to offer Rupert his protection. He could hardly give him up to the first threat of violence. Luisa and Teodósio urged him to support the Royalists, arguing that he had given his word, and could not go back on it now.52 Besides all this, it would have made him look weak on the international stage, and that would have been a deadly move. With his customary caution, he decided to negotiate with the new arrivals. He quickly found out how difficult this would be.
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